RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

No. 94234-0

3/8/2017 4:31 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 74034-2

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

VIKAS LUTHRA,

Petitioner,

VS.

ARADHNA FORREST (fka Luthra),

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

VIKAS LUTHRA (Pro Se).

Respectfully Presented by

12624 SE 83rd Ct., NewCastle, WA 98056 (425) 793-8900 vluthra@dotzoo.net

A. Identity Of Petitioner.

Vikas Luthra, respondent in the Superior Court and Appellant in the Court of Appeals, respectfully requests this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B of this petition.

B. Court Of Appeals Decision.

COA - Division One's decision was entered on February 6, 2017. A copy of the unpublished opinion is attached (as **Appendix A**.)

C. Issues Presented For Review.

- 1. Did the Appellate Court improperly rely on <u>Ingraham</u>

 <u>v. Wright</u>, 430 U.S. 651, 97 S. Ct. 1401, 51 L. Ed. 2d 711 (1977) in ruling that contempt sanction in this case (75 days of work crew) was not a violation of Luthra's Eight Amendment right to be free from cruel and unusual punishment?
- 2. Did the Appellate Court err in affirming the trial court's Contempt of Parenting Plan Findings in this matter as it relates to modality of treatment of Luthra's OCD?

D. Statement Of The Case.

Appellant Luthra and respondent Aradhna Forrest are parents of a 13 years old Son. After a dissolution proceeding in 2010, a Parenting Plan Final Order (*Appendix B*) was entered in the case splitting time between the two parents.

The Parenting Plan from 2010 withheld mid-week visitation from Luthra "until the father's therapist provides a status report to counsel and to me that affirmatively reports on the father's commitment to and progress in treatment." (*Appendix B, Page 2*, *Line 17-19*).

The Findings of Fact stated "Mr. Luthra should immediately engage in intensive, home-based therapy for his OCD, which is likely to include both exposure and response prevention and cognitive behavioral therapy, as recommended by Dr. Hastings. This therapy should be undertaken with a therapist highly experienced in intensive OCD treatment and will also likely include medication. The frequency and length of intensive treatment should be as recommended by the therapist, and should be followed by

maintenance level treatment specifically for OCD long-term. When the father has begun treatment, the therapist shall report that fact, outlining the nature and frequency of the treatment to both counsel.

(Appendix C, Page 6, Line 1-5)

Both parents were allowed liberal vacation privileges with the child, and major decisions relating to Non-Emergency Health Care and Religious Upbringing for the Child were designated in Section 4.2 of the Parenting Plan as "Joint".

The Parenting Plan Final Order (PP) Amended on 9/9/13 stated: "The father's mid-week visits will stop until the father is in compliance with the court's orders regarding treatment, the father's therapist provides a status report to counsel and to Judge Fleck (or any successor Judge or Commissioner if no successor Judge is assigned) that affirmatively reports on the father's commitment to and progress in treatment, and the court approves the start of midweek visits" (*Appendix D, Page 2, Line 19-22*)

Subsequent to the trial, Luthra sought the medical opinion of the specialists at Valley Medical Center's Psychiatry and Counseling Clinic in Renton. At the advice of Dr. Triet Nguyen (DO Psychiatry) and Ms. Nancy Eveleth (Licensed Mental Health Counselor who testified at the dissolution proceedings), Luthra also started seeing Ms. Rhonda Griffin (LMHC) at that Clinic to comply with the "intensive" OCD treatment requirement of the Parenting Plan.

On October 19th, 2011, Luthra's Counsel at that time – Patrice Johnston submitted a letter to the Court of Judge Deborah Fleck informing her of Luthra's participation in OCD therapy with Ms. Griffin, and the medical reasoning for the same along with supporting letters from Dr. Nguyen and Ms. Eveleth. The Court never directed Luthra to discontinue seeing Ms. Griffin or question her qualifications to render the ordered therapy.

Luthra continued to work with Dr. Nguyen, Ms. Griffin and Ms. Eveleth on a regular basis per their medical directive thereafter. However, in June 2015, Forrest filed a Contempt of Court action

against Luthra regarding dispute between the parties related to Child Support pass through payment and (newly) alleging Luthra was in violation of the OCD treatment requirements of the Parenting Plan despite having not objected to his seeing Ms. Griffin when originally notified in October, 2011.

The resulting orders from subsequent Contempt Of Court hearings in the matter were the issues before COA, Division 1 in Luthra's Appellate filings.

E. Argument Why This Court Should Accept Review.

1. The Court Of Appeals Decision Conflicts With A Previous Supreme Court Decision Holding That Adult Persons Have The Fundamental Right To Control The Decisions Relating To The Rendering Of Their Own Medical Care, Including The Decision To Have Life-Sustaining Procedures Withheld or Withdrawn In Instances Of A Terminal Condition. RAP 13.4(b)(1),(3)

This Court should grant review per RAP 13.4(b)(1),(3) because the decision of COA affirming the trial court finding <u>Luthra</u> in <u>contempt</u> for using mental treatment modality prescribed by his Doctor's over the modality supposedly expected by the Trial Court) conflicts with the language and spirit of previous orders of this

Court and with State Statutes.

- a) In Specific, *In re Colyer*, 660 P.2d 738, 99 Wash. 2d 114, 99 Wash. 114 (1983)
- ..."The legislature finds that adult persons have the fundamental right to control the decisions relating to the rendering of their own medical care, including the decision to have life-sustaining procedures withheld or withdrawn in instances of a terminal condition."...

..."The legislature further finds that, in the interest of protecting individual autonomy, such prolongation of life for persons with a terminal condition may cause loss of patient dignity, and unnecessary pain and suffering, while providing nothing medically necessary or beneficial to the patient."

While unlike *in Colyer*, Luthra is not dealing with a terminal condition, he should nonetheless be entitled to the same protections and autonomy in decisions related to rendering of his own medical care, especially given that the procedure and modality of treatment he underwent was prescribed by qualified and experienced medical professionals (**Dr. Nguyen, Psychiatrist, Ms. Eveleth, LMHC and Ms. Griffin, LMHC**) each of whom is independently tasked with and held accountable by our Department of Health (per Statutes governing Medical Licensing) and by their respective Hospital Administration to be qualified in rendering the medical treatment that they administer to their patients.

b) In RCW 71.32.020 (5), (6), (7), (8) our Legislature specifically defined:

- (5) "Health care facility" means a hospital, as defined in RCW 70.41.020; an institution, as defined in RCW 71.12.455; a state hospital, as defined in RCW 72.23.010; a nursing home, as defined in RCW 18.51.010; or a clinic that is part of a community mental health service delivery system, as defined in CW 71.24.025.
- (6) "Health care provider" means an osteopathic physician or osteopathic physician's assistant licensed under chapter 18.57 or 18.57A RCW, a physician or physician's assistant licensed under chapter 18.71 or 18.71A RCW, or an advanced registered nurse practitioner licensed under RCW 18.79.050.
- (7) "Incapacitated" means an adult who: (a) Is unable to understand the nature, character, and anticipated results of proposed treatment or alternatives; understand the recognized serious possible risks, complications, and anticipated benefits in treatments and alternatives, including nontreatment; or communicate his or her understanding or treatment decisions; or (b) has been found to be incompetent pursuant to RCW 11.88.010(1)(e).
- (8) "Informed consent" means consent that is given after the person:
 (a) Is provided with a description of the nature, character, and anticipated results of proposed treatments and alternatives, and the recognized serious possible risks, complications, and anticipated benefits in the treatments and alternatives, including nontreatment, in language that the person can reasonably be expected to understand; or (b) elects not to be given the information included in (a) of this subsection.

In RCW 71.34.020 (2) our Legislature defined:

- (2) "Children's mental health specialist" means:
- (a) A mental health professional who has completed a minimum of one hundred actual hours, not quarter or semester hours, of specialized training devoted to the study of child development and the treatment of children; and

(b) A mental health professional who has the equivalent of one year of full-time experience in the treatment of children under the supervision of a children's mental health specialist.

While the issue here doesn't entail a child's mental health specialist, it would seem reasonable to presume that the legislature would offer the strictest protections/quality of care to young/vulnerable children, thus making the above defined standards analogously applicable to adults? Luthra's mental health treatment providers more than sufficiently met the standard above, since each has decades of expertise and experience in treating mental health issues as WA State Licensed Mental Health Practitioners. (CP 933-945)

The language of **RCW 71.32.020 and RCW 71.34.020** (portions detailed above) should offer context to this Court to compare facts in this case with the intent of the WA State Legislature and determine if justice was indeed done in this case per Statutes that govern these issues?

c) Our legislature addressed "medical necessity" as more persuasive than an individual's advance directive in *RCW*

71.32.070 (1). Alarmingly, on the contrary, in the Luthra matter before this court, the Trial Court seems intent on substituting its own directive over that of "<u>medical necessity</u>" determination of qualified Mental Health professionals most familiar with the current condition of the Petitioner. Egregiously, the court then even went on to <u>punish</u> Luthra with a sentence of 75 days of CWP simply based on its own medical opinion?

with mental health issues (as outlined in Chapter 71.05 RCW and Chapter 71.32 RCW) afford Luthra far greater autonomy and protections (even in the event Luthra was incapacitated due to a Mental Health condition.) Here, to find Luthra in contempt of court for exercising his rights under the specific circumstances of this case, and then sentencing him to 75 days of work crew for following medical directives of his treatment team, flies in the face of these protections.

2. The Appellate Court Improperly Applied <u>Ingraham</u> <u>v. Wright</u>, 430 U.S. 651, 97 S. Ct. 1401, 51 L. Ed. 2d 711 (1977) In This Case. RAP 13.4(b)(3),(4)

This Court should grant review per RAP 13.4(b)(3),(4) because this Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. While Ingraham v. Wright does elude in part to indicate that Eight Amendment offers protections against Cruel and Unusual Punishment in Criminal Proceedings, it also was applied in the context of punishment (even if cruel or unusual) rendered in a school environment to errant students. While the Luthra matter proceedings were held in a Civil matter, the punishment (75 days of work crew) ordered to Luthra appears disproportionate and excessive in these circumstances, perhaps even "quasi or incidentally criminal in nature". In fact, Section VIII of the Parenting Plan clearly states that "Violation of residential provisions of this order with actual knowledge of its terms is punishable by contempt of court and may be a criminal offense under **RCW 9A.40.060(2) or 9A.40.070(2)**. Violation of this order may subject a violator to arrest. (Appendix D, Page 10, Line **8-10**.)

In Keller v. Keller, 323 P.2d 231, 52 Wash. 2d 84 (1958).

RCW 7.20 has, on some occasions, been referred to as the "general contempt statute" (State v. Boren, supra) and, on other occasions, as the "civil contempt statute." In one case, the statute is designated as "quasi or incidentally criminal in nature" (State ex rel. Dailey v. Dailey, 164 Wash, 140, 2 P. (2d) 79 (1931)) and, in another, as "more 87*87 accurately described as being sui generis." State v. Sanchez, 4 Wn. (2d) 432, 435, 104 P. (2d) 464 (1940).

In <u>Ingraham v. Wright, 430 U.S. 651, 97 S. Ct. 1401, 51 L. Ed. 2d</u> 711 (1977), the Supreme Court of the United States:

"The schoolchild has little need for the protection of the Eighth Amendment. Though attendance may not always be voluntary, the public school remains an open institution. Except perhaps when very young, the child is not physically restrained from leaving school during school hours; and at the end of the school day, the child is invariably free to return home. Even while at school, the child brings with him the support of family and friends and is rarely apart from teachers and other pupils who may witness and protest any instances of mistreatment."

Unlike a child in a school environment, in performing Community Service (in the Community Works Program) for <u>8 hour days x 75 days</u>, Luthra should be entitled to protections against Cruel and Unusual Punishment. Unlike a child in school, Luthra is not free to walk away from the CWP during those CWP days; he has to travel to CWP Job sites in a Van Marked with "Department of Corrections" logos, and <u>is ordered to and must perform hard manual labor during those 8 hours</u> – which often entails

uncontrolled exposure to the same contaminants/filth/garbage etc. which is the very trigger of his OCD affliction – which ironically the Court claims to be attempting to help him manage via its orders requiring psychiatric intervention. While exposure to filth/garbage may not be unmanageable disturbing to an average adult, given Luthra's OCD affliction, this particular penalty (CWP) is cruel and excessive due to his condition and disability. RAP 13.4(b)(3)

In <u>Ingraham v. Wright, 430 U.S. 651, 97 S. Ct. 1401, 51 L. Ed. 2d</u> <u>711 (1977)</u>, the Supreme Court of the United States:

In addressing the scope of the Eighth Amendment's prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment, this Court has found it useful to refer to "[t]raditional common-law concepts," <u>Powell v. Texas, 392 U. S. 514, 535 (1968) (plurality opinion)</u>, and to the "attitude[s] which our society has traditionally taken." Id., at 531. So, too, in defining the requirements of procedural due process under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, the Court has been attuned to what "has always been the law of the land," <u>United States v. Barnett, 376 U. S. 681, 692 (1964)</u>, and to "traditional ideas of fair procedure." <u>Greene v. McElroy, 360 U. S. 474, 508 (1959)</u>.

Analogously in this case in scrutiny under the "traditional common-law concepts" – our society would not find forcing a person afflicted with an acute fear of germs/filth to endure (8 hours/day over 75 days) working in a garbage dump as "motivating" as opined by the Appellate Order. (Appendix A.

Page 11, Last Paragraph.) The ordered CWP punishment in this case is indeed axiomatically "cruel and unusual" under the specific circumstances of this case. This was clearly imposition of an unlawful punitive sentence, without the statutory due-process protections. Therefore this Court should grant review per RAP 13.4(b)(3).

3. The Court Of Appeals Decision In This Case Incorrectly Extends The Scope Of Parenting Plan To That Of An Irrevocable Medical Directive Of An Individual Or A Competent Court With Jurisdiction Over An Incapacitated Individual. RAP 13.4(b)(4)

This Court should also grant review because the Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court order which effectively acts as a Medical Directive of the Father or (possibly) of a Court, even when the subject parent in not currently medically or mentally "incapacitated." Overall, this is an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Such a narrow/manipulated interpretation of the purpose and function of a parenting plan improperly elevating it to the same level as a living will or a ruling of a Mental Health court finding a person *incompetent pursuant to RCW* 11.88.010(1)(e).

"Under the domestic relations law of this State, the best interests of the child must be the paramount concern of the court. As important as this consideration is, however, it must nevertheless be balanced against a parent's fundamental right to be a parent. This right is of constitutional magnitude and cannot be restricted without a rational reason for doing so." *Marriage of Cabalquinto*, 100 Wn.2d 325, 330-31, 669 P.2d 886 (1983). While the trial court here is not extending additional direct limitations on the father's fundamental parental rights, the "disparate impact" of the Court's rulings against the father is obvious.

While RCW 26.09.191 allows the court to limit a parent's residential time with the child, "any limitation or restriction placed on a parent's conduct or contact with their child must be "specifically tailored to the presenting problem." 20 Kenneth W. Weber, Washington Practice: Family and Community Property Law § 33.25, at 100 (Pocket Part, 2010); RCW 26.09.191(m)(i) ("the limitations imposed by the court under (a) or (b) of this subsection shall be reasonably calculated to protect the child from the physical, sexual, or emotional abuse or harm that could result if the child has

contact with the parent requesting residential time"). A logical question is raised when the abridgment of fundamental rights is

justified by some "compelling state interest" which it furthers. If it is

not, its impact constitutes a violation of due process.

F. Conclusion.

There was no finding in 2015-2016 hearings nor allegations

that the child was unsafe in the father's presence. Thus, the trial

court erred and abused its discretion when entering its contempt of

court orders related to the OCD treatment modality for the father.

This Court should grant review of the Court of Appeals

decision and reverse the contempt of court findings related to the

OCD treatment provisions of the Parenting Plan.