RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

4/7/2017 1:11 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 94234-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of

ARADHNA FORREST Respondent

and

VIKAS LUTHRA Petitioner

ON REVIEW FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PATRICIA NOVOTNY ZARAGOZA NOVOTNY PLLC Attorneys for Respondent 3418 NE 65th Street, Suite A Seattle, WA 98115 (206) 525-0711

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The respondent is Aradhna Forrest, f/k/a Aradhna Luthra, who was the petitioner in the Superior Court and the respondent in the Court of Appeals.

B. RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES ON WHICH REVIEW IS SOUGHT

- 1. Are the issues on review limited to issues raised in the Court of Appeals?
- 2. Is the 2010 order entered by Judge Fleck requiring a specific treatment modality a final order, and has the father been repeatedly told his self-designed treatment fails to satisfy the order?
- 3. Does the constitutional prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment apply to coercive civil sanctions?
- 4. Should the mother receive her fees for answering the father's petition?

C. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Since the parties divorced in 2010, Luthra has appealed seven times and sought discretionary review once.¹ Persistently, he contests

¹ Four appeals from four contempt orders were consolidated in this appeal. The other proceedings are as follows: *In re Marriage of Luthra*, 165 Wn. App. 1032 (2012), *review denied at* 174 Wn.2d 1008 (2012); *In re Marriage of Luthra*, 184 Wn. App. 1036 (2014), *review denied at* 183 Wn.2d 1003 (2015); *In re Marriage of Luthra*, 197 Wn. App. 1060 (2017). His motion for discretionary review was No. 72192-5-I and 91741-8 (concluded in 2016). His present appeal is No. 76330-0-I.

specific treatment requirements ordered by Judge Fleck in 2010, from which he did not appeal. In his present recitation of this long litigation history, he claims he undertook a different kind of treatment in 2011 and the court "never directed Luthra to discontinue [that treatment] or question [the provider's] qualifications to render the ordered therapy." Petition, at 4. For not the first time, Luthra does violence to the facts.

The father has severe obsessive compulsive disorder. In 2010, after a five-day trial, the court entered findings under RCW 26.09.191(3)(b), (e) and (g). CP 61 (emotional impairment, adverse interest, abusive use of conflict). The court found the child's best interests "will be served if his father obtains intensive treatment for his OCD so that [the child] can continue to have the regular presence of his father in his life in a way that is healthy for him." CP 61; see, also, CP 60-63. Accordingly, the court ordered the father into a specific treatment regimen, as recommended by the parenting evaluator. CP 61. Specifically, for example, the court ordered the provider have the relevant expertise and that the therapy should be "home-based," since the father's problematic behavior was worst and most affecting at his home. CP 61 (FOF ¶ 2.19). ² Again, Luthra did not appeal from this order.

²The court placed these details in the findings to protect the father's privacy, which would be affected by inevitable dissemination of the parenting plan itself (e.g., to schools, doctors, etc.). CP 66-67.

However, post-trial, Luthra disregarded the specific requirements ordered by the court and undertook to design his own treatment program, consistent with his earlier refusals to stick with programs that promised to ameliorate the effects of his condition. See, e.g., CP 61 (court finding father left a residential program before completion and had not pursued treatment afterward). The parenting evaluator was very clear about the extremity of the father's condition, considering that it was both longstanding and incurable, and was concerned the father would not actively pursue recovery. CP 885. His own therapist (one of the therapists he still claims to be seeing) admitted Luthra's chosen therapy had been inadequate. CP 885. The evaluator noted "[Luthra] will need to change this in order to have a healthy relationship with his son." CP 885.

The issue of noncompliance with the court's treatment order came up repeatedly in litigation subsequent to the parenting plan's entry. CP 74-79; see, also, Slip. Op., No. 71018-4-I (184 Wn. App. 1036), at 4 (describing Luthra's arguments to Judge Fleck in 2013). The court rejected Luthra's self-designed therapeutic program and reiterated throughout the proceedings that the father must comply with the treatment requirement to gain reinstatement of his midweek visitation. CP 69 ("Father shall commence treatment for his Obsessive Compulsive

Disorder (OCD), as set forth in the Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, dated July 8, 2010, within three months from the date of this Order," which was June 6, 2011).

Not only was the father's therapy not of a type that has potential to help him (e.g., it is not home-based), the providers of the therapy did not satisfy the court's orders (no relevant expertise). The court noted, too, that the father's purported OCD therapist had failed to produce credentials, despite requests, and that, on its face, the father's treatment with that provider fell short of what the court ordered. Id.

Since this is an intractable condition that [the father] has experienced since the age of seven and he has severe OCD, to meet for an hour once a week with a licensed mental health counselor, on the face of it, does not comply with my definition of a therapist highly experienced in intensive OCD.

CP 74. The court recalled the testimony at trial of the father's regular therapist and of the parenting evaluator who agreed the father "needed more intense treatment" than the regular therapist could provide. Id. In her report, the evaluator made plain that the father needed a particular kind of therapy (ERP) in a particular location (i.e., where the OCD manifests most, in this case, the home environment). CP 888. That is, "ERP, especially undertaken in [the father's] environment (outside the office), is the standard treatment for OCD." Id. Luthra's chosen OCD therapist,

Griffin, seemed unacquainted with this standard; rather, the court noted with concern, Griffin's statements in 2013 about the condition were "completely contrary to the testimony at trial [calling] into question her knowledge of OCD, her knowledge of [the father's] intractable condition." CP 75.

In short, though Luthra makes it sound like he has been engaging in his preferred therapy for years with the court's tacit approval, the reality is completely opposite. In 2013, the court emphatically rejected Luthra's substitute therapy and ordered him to get the treatment specified in 2010. Still, Luthra did not comply, as Judge O'Donnell found beginning in 2015. CP 256-257. The court threatened jail time if Luthra did not make a plan to comply within two weeks. 1RP 26, 29, 41. Luthra made no substantial progress and the court ordered work crew and again threatened jail time. CP 353.

In January 2016, Luthra remained in contempt, but the court suspended work crew because of an injury to Luthra's arm. CP 844-866; 2RP 24-27. The court also noted any lack of "supplemental information" related to the OCD treatment and ordered Luthra to provide documentation of compliance by the next review hearing. Id.; 2RP 28 (Luthra conceding no evidence of his claims of treatment-related efforts); 2RP 29-31.

On March 18, 2016, the court again found Luthra "remains in contempt." CP 765. However, Luthra did not appear at the hearing. The court noted Luthra's failure to document his volunteer activity and his failure to provide supplemental information on treatment as ordered. CP 766. "As a further coercive sanction," the court ordered Luthra "to complete 30 additional work crew days." CP 770. The court ordered \$350 in attorney fees for the continuing contempt and his failure to appear. CP 770. See, also, CP 569-571 (ordered fees for Luthra's violation of court rules governing motions for reconsideration).

In advance of the next review hearing, Luthra complained about the hardships he suffered from performing volunteer work and work crew due to his OCD. CP 573. In response, Forrest noted these complaints contradicted Luthra's oft-repeated claim that his OCD was well-controlled by the treatment regimen he preferred (to the one the court ordered). CP 616-617.³

Luthra also repeated his claim to financial constraints on his ability to afford treatment. CP 573. Forrest pointed out that Luthra failed to document his financial circumstances and that his luxury cars and a recent major remodel to his home suggested his claims of poverty were false. CP

³ Luthra repeats this claim in his brief in the Court of Appeals. Br. Appellant, at 26-27 ("he is highly functional despite his diagnosis and is properly managing his condition

with proper medical care").

617-618, 620-623. Forrest also rebutted Luthra's claim that there were no treatment providers willing to do home-based therapy. CP 618, 627. Luthra attempted to make an appointment with the therapist Forrest easily found, but complained his insurance might only reimburse him for half the cost. CP 628-629. He asked for a continuance to June 3 for time to make an appointment. CP 630.

The court held review hearings on May 17 and June 3, 2016 and entered an order on June 13 finding Luthra "remains in contempt." CP 767. Luthra still had "not obtained an appointment with a qualified provider who will do home based OCD treatment to comply with Judge Fleck's original order [...] despite the Court's admonition to do so before the June 3 hearing in order to avoid potential incarceration as a coercive sanction." CP 769.⁴ The court gave Luthra until June 17 to provide "written verification from a qualified treatment provider" that he has either commenced treatment or scheduled an appointment, or else face incarceration as a potential "further coercive sanction" at another review hearing to be set by the court. CP 770. The court also ordered 15

⁴ The ellipsis represents the court's footnote reciting again the requirements of Judge Fleck's 2010 order. CP 769 n.1.

additional work crew days and attorney fees. CP 770. Luthra filed another notice of appeal.⁵ He also challenged orders on child support.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's orders, noting

Luthra failed in six years to comply with Judge Fleck's order. Slip Op., at

10-11. The court also rejected Luthra's Eighth Amendment challenge

because this constitutional provision applies to punishment and the court's

orders were coercive, not punitive. Id. The court also rejected other

arguments not raised here.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED.

Again, Luthra fails to establish any basis for review of the Court of Appeals' decision, which affirmed contempt orders entered consistent with the court's authority to enforce its orders and to coerce compliance with those orders. RAP 13.2(b).

1. LUTHRA MAY ONLY SEEK REVIEW OF THE ISSUES RAISED AND DECIDED IN THE COURT OF APPEALS.

As has happened in previous pleadings filed by Luthra, he identifies the issues then argues other issues. He asks for review of the decision below upholding the orders finding him in contempt of a 2010 parenting plan requirement and rejecting his "cruel and unusual" argument. In his argument section, he adds other issues, ones that dispute

8

⁵ Luthra did not designate any of these notices. RAP 9.6(b)(1)(A).

the 2010 order, rather than disputing he has ignored the order. Petition, at 5-9. He also argues the 2010 order is tantamount to a medical directive, exceeds the court's authority, and is unjustified by a compelling state interest. Petition, at 13-15. As elaborated upon below, the 2010 order cannot be challenged in these proceedings, just as it could not be challenged in the multiple appellate proceedings that preceded this one.

2. LUTHRA CONTINUES TO DEFY THE 2010 ORDER, FROM WHICH HE DID NOT APPEAL AND WHICH THE COURT HAS REPEATEDLY RESTATED.

Still and again, Luthra takes issue with the kind of therapeutic treatment the court ordered in 2010, as described above. He did not appeal the court's treatment order; he ignored it.

Judge Fleck restated these orders in 2013. In proceedings from 2015-2016, Judge O'Donnell has found Luthra in contempt of these orders. Luthra has the ability to comply with the order but chooses not to do so. Rather, he continues to try to relitigate it over and over again by presenting the same evidence rejected by Judge Fleck in 2013 (and at trial in 2010). Indeed, his own therapist told the parenting evaluator her therapy with Luthra was inadequate. Luthra's conduct exceeds the bounds of reason, continues to risk his child's well-being, and burdens Forrest with endless, costly litigation (i.e., fees awarded but not paid).

3. BECAUSE THE COURT'S CIVIL CONTEMPT ORDERS ARE COERCIVE, NOT PUNITIVE, THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT DOES NOT APPLY. IN ANY CASE, WORK CREW PARTICIPATION IS NOT CRUEL OR UNUSUAL.

Luthra engages in the kind of abusive litigation predicted by the parenting evaluator. He raises issues supported neither by law nor fact. He argues the court violated the Eighth Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment when it attempted to coerce compliance by ordering him to participate in a work crew, in lieu of jailing him. Petition, at 12. Luthra mistakes forebearance for cruelty, given how much reason he gave the judge to put him in jail. Further, by asserting his OCD makes work crew cruel, he contradicts his own claims that his therapy has rendered his OCD a non-issue. Br. Appellant, at 26-27; see Petition, at 13 (not "incapacitated"). In any case, the Eighth Amendment does not apply here. Rather, "it was designed to protect those convicted of crimes." Ingraham v. Wright, 430 U.S. 651, 664, 97 S. Ct. 1401, 1409, 51 L. Ed. 2d 711 (1977). Here, the court's orders are coercive. See In re M.B., 101 Wn. App. 425, 438, 3 P.3d 780, 787–88 (2000) ("[r]emedial sanctions are civil rather than criminal and do not require criminal due process protections").

Luthra makes no rational argument that the court did anything other than exercise its civil contempt powers. He cites to a section of the

Parenting Plan that cautions against violations of the residential schedule by citing to the custodial interference statute. Petition, at 10. Luthra has not been charged with custodial interference. Luthra argues the work crew order, intended expressly to coerce his compliance, is punitive because it is onerous. Petition, at 11-12. Coercion tends to be onerous, such as jail time. It is a tool the court has to deal with intractable parties. And that is the point Judge O'Donnell has been trying to make. Luthra can avoid work crew and jail if he finally complies with the 2010 Parenting Plan, and gets the help he desperately needs to protect the parties' child from the harms specifically identified by Judge Fleck.

E. MOTION FOR ATTORNEY FEES

The father's abusive use of conflict manifests in either litigating or prompting litigation by defying court orders. Rather than getting the help he was proven to need, he has fought the court's order at every turn, resulting in many costs to the child and the mother, including litigation costs. In this petition, the father continues this intransigent conduct. Indeed, in these 2015-2016 proceedings, not only did Luthra continue to make arguments repeatedly rejected by the court in the past six years, he resisted paying child support and sought to have Forrest held in contempt.⁶

.

11

⁶ See, e.g., CP 354-355, 779-843, 849-848; 2RP 1-24. Luthra did not appeal from this order.

At every turn, he substantiates the court's 2010 finding of abusive use of conflict.

In Washington, an award of attorney fees is justified where the conduct of one of the parties causes the other "to incur unnecessary and significant attorney fees." *Burrill v. Burrill*, 113 Wn. App. 863, 873, 56 P.3d 993, 998 (2002). The father should pay for the costs the mother incurs litigating in this matter, including here.

F. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Aradhna Forrest respectfully asks this Court to deny review of Vikas Luthra's petition and to award her fees.